

# INDIA STRATEGIC REVIEW JANUARY 2023



## Volume IV, Issue 1 | January 2023

Delhi Policy Group Core 5A, 1st Floor, India Habitat Centre, Lodhi Road, New Delhi- 110003 www.delhipolicygroup.org



#### ABOUT US

Founded in 1994, the Delhi Policy Group (DPG) is among India's oldest think tanks with its primary focus on strategic and international issues of critical national interest. DPG is a non-partisan institution and is independently funded by a non-profit Trust. Over past decades, DPG has established itself in both domestic and international circles and is widely recognised today among the top security think tanks of India and of Asia's major powers.

Since 2016, in keeping with India's increasing global profile, DPG has expanded its focus areas to include India's regional and global role and its policies in the Indo-Pacific. In a realist environment, DPG remains mindful of the need to align India's ambitions with matching strategies and capabilities, from diplomatic initiatives to security policy and military modernisation.

At a time of disruptive change in the global order, DPG aims to deliver research based, relevant, reliable and realist policy perspectives to an actively engaged public, both at home and abroad. DPG is deeply committed to the growth of India's national power and purpose, the security and prosperity of the people of India and India's contributions to the global public good. We remain firmly anchored within these foundational principles which have defined DPG since its inception.

#### Author

Lt. Gen. Deependra Singh Hooda (Retd.), PVSM, UYSM, AVSM, VSM & Bar, Senior Fellow for Military Strategy, Delhi Policy Group

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author and should not be attributed to the Delhi Policy Group as an Institution.

#### INDIA STRATEGIC REVIEW

The DPG India Strategic Review (ISR) is a monthly survey of key developments, trends and policies pertaining to India's immediate and continental neighbourhood based on open-source reports and publications and is authored by Lt. Gen. Deependra Singh Hooda (Retd.) Senior Fellow for Military Strategy. The research team includes Shreyas Deshmukh, Research Associate. Your comments and feedback may be addressed to Shreyas Deshmukh at shreyas@dpg.org.in. To subscribe, please <u>click here</u>.

#### Cover Image:

World map

© 2023 by the Delhi Policy Group

#### Delhi Policy Group

Core 5A, 1st Floor, India Habitat Centre, Lodhi Road, New Delhi- 110003. www.delhipolicygroup.org

### India Strategic Review

Vol. IV, Issue 1 January 2023

#### Contents

AFGHANISTAN	1
Deepening Humanitarian Crisis	1
Security Issues	2
PAKISTAN	3
A Deteriorating Economic and Political Situation	3
Worsening Internal Security Situation	5
India-Pakistan Ties	6
STANDOFF AT THE INDIA-CHINA LINE OF ACTUAL CONTROL (L	<b>AC)</b> 7
Situation at the LAC	7
BHUTAN	8
China-Bhutan Boundary Talks	8
NEPAL	9
An Uneasy Political Coalition	9
India-Nepal Ties	10
SRI LANKA	10
A Dire Economic Situation	10



#### India's Strategic Neighbourhood

by

Lt. Gen. Deependra Singh Hooda (Retd.)

#### AFGHANISTAN

#### Deepening Humanitarian Crisis

Afghanistan faces a grim situation in 2023. 28.3 million people (two thirds of Afghanistan's population) will need urgent humanitarian assistance to survive as the country enters its third consecutive year of drought-like conditions and the second year of economic decline. While in previous years, humanitarian needs have been largely driven by conflict, the key drivers of humanitarian need in 2023 are multidimensional: drought, climate change, protection threats, particularly for women and girls, and the economic crisis.<sup>1</sup>

An extremely harsh winter has added to the woes with temperatures in parts of the country dropping to -34 degrees Celsius. At least 150 people have died in the last two weeks in the freezing weather. According to the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, large sections of the population lack the means to buy heating systems. The greatest impact is on the most fragile: women, children, the sick, and the elderly.<sup>2</sup>

On December 24, the Taliban ordered foreign and local non-governmental organizations to suspend female staff, claiming that some workers have failed to adhere to the regime's dress code. In response, many organizations suspended their humanitarian operations citing a difficulty in reaching out to women, children and families.

The United Nations and the aid agencies are in negotiations with the Taliban to review their ban on women working in NGOs. While on a visit to Kabul on Jan 25, U.N. aid chief Martin Griffiths said that his message during meetings with Taliban officials had been: "If you can't help us rescind the ban, give us the exemptions to allow women to operate."<sup>3</sup>





The UN Deputy Secretary-General Amina Mohammed while briefing reporters on her recent trip to Afghanistan, Jnaury 25, 2023. Source: UN

Some exemptions have been granted to female aid workers in health and education and three leading aid agencies - CARE, Save the Children and International Rescue Committee – have partially resumed work in the health sector.<sup>4</sup> However, with the overarching ban still in place, delivery of humanitarian support is adversely impacted.

It is unlikely that the Taliban would reverse its stance on the restrictions on women. Responding to United Nations Security Council concerns about women's rights in Afghanistan, Taliban chief spokesman Zabihullah Mujahid said in a statement, "The Islamic Emirate tries to regulate all matters in the light of Islamic Sharia" and cannot "allow acts against Sharia in the country."<sup>5</sup>

In part, the Taliban's position could be a result of the lack of explicit messaging from the international community on the effect of Taliban actions. Even after the NGO ban was announced, the United Nations said that it would not stop providing aid to Afghanistan.<sup>6</sup> The humanitarian dilemma facing the global donors is being fully exploited by the Taliban.

#### Security Issues

The Islamic State Khorasan Province (ISKP) has intensified its attacks in the capital Kabul. Last month, ISKP gunmen had fired at Pakistani Chargé d'Affaires Ubaid-ur-Rehman Nizamani in Kabul, injuring his security guard and attacked a hotel in downtown Kabul that was frequented mainly by Chinese nationals.

On January 1, an explosion outside the military airport in the capital Kabul, claimed by the ISKP, caused multiple casualties. Three days later, multiple blasts were heard across Kabul, but no explanation was given by the Taliban. On



January 11, a suicide bomber attacked the main entrance of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs just as employees were leaving for the day. The ministry is located in the diplomatic district of Kabul, which houses several foreign embassies. At least 13 people were killed in the attack.<sup>7</sup>

Meanwhile, Taliban's relations with Pakistan remain strained over border clashes and the presence of Tehrik-e Taliban Pakistan (TTP) fighters in Afghanistan. On January 5, Afghan newspaper Hasht-e-Subh Daily quoted sources as saying that Pakistan bombed targets in Salala neighborhood in the vicinity of Gushta district in the Nangarhar province. The Pakistani Foreign Office rejected the reports of airstrikes in Afghanistan, terming them to be "utterly baseless and malicious."<sup>8</sup>

These developments come after the Pakistan National Security Committee met on January 2 and issued a strongly worded statement that "No country will be allowed to provide sanctuaries and facilitation to terrorists and Pakistan reserves all rights in that respect to safeguard her people."<sup>9</sup> Afghanistan-Pakistan ties are likely to tested further after a horrific bomb blast in a Peshawar mosque, claimed by the TTP, killed 100 and injured more than 200 people.<sup>10</sup>

#### PAKISTAN

#### A Deteriorating Economic and Political Situation

Pakistan's economy continues to be under tremendous pressure. During the week ending on January 27, foreign exchange reserves held by the State Bank of Pakistan fell to around \$3.09 billion. With limited access to dollars, Pakistani banks are unable to guarantee payments to foreign shipping lines, resulting in a hold on import shipments. Pakistani customs figures indicate that more than 8,000 import containers are currently stuck awaiting clearance.<sup>11</sup>

Foreign inflows have also slowed down. Data compiled by the Ministry of Economic Affairs showed that foreign loan disbursements from July to December 2022 stood at a mere \$ 5.6 billion. These disbursements were not enough to finance the maturing foreign debt, making a severe dent in the foreign exchange reserves held by the central bank. The key reason for the low disbursements was the government's failure to ensure the timely completion of the ninth review of the IMF programme.<sup>12</sup>

The programme has been in suspension since last November, mainly because of the stringent conditions set by the IMF for a resumption of the loan. Due to the impasse between the Ministry of Finance and the IMF, friendly countries had been holding back their promised additional support – about \$2bn by Saudi



Arabia, \$1bn the UAE and about \$2bn China. Under pressure, Pakistan formally conveyed to the IMF its willingness on Jan 19 to accept all major conditions and requested for the mission to visit Islamabad.<sup>13</sup>

On January 25, Pakistan removed the exchange rate cap, which resulted in a more that nine percent depreciation of the rupee to Rs255 to a dollar. On January 29, the prices of petrol and diesel were increased by Rs35. The government has also prepared two draft ordinances to impose Rs200 billion in new taxes and is mulling discontinuing the power sector subsidy and unleashing sales tax on raw materials for the export sector, especially textile industrialists.<sup>14</sup>

The IMF mission will be in Islamabad from January 31 to February 9 February 9 to continue discussions under the 9th Extended Fund Facility Review. The country is in desperate need of the IMF loan, but the steps to secure it could have political costs in an election year. But this is a bullet that Pakistan would have to bite.

Foreign Minister Bilawal Bhutto-Zardari arrived in Moscow on January 30 for a two-day official visit. One of the focus areas of the talks was the supply of oil and gas to Pakistan at discounted rates. In view of the foreign exchange crisis, Pakistan is also keen to pay for energy purchases from Russia in the currencies of friendly countries.<sup>15</sup>



Foreighn Minister of Pakistan Bilawal Bhutto-Zardari and Russian Foreighn Minister Sergey Lavrov at Press Conference in Moscow, January 30, 2023. Source: Twitter/@BBhuttoZardari



The economic crisis is exacerbated by the ongoing political instability in the country. In December, Imran Khan had declared that he would dissolve the Punjab and Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa assemblies, where his party holds power. On January 12, the Punjab Chief Minister Chaudhry Parvez Elahi advised Governor Balighur Rehman to dissolve the provincial assembly. On Jan 18, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Governor Haji Ghulam Ali dissolved the provincial assembly on the advice of the Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Chief Minister Mahmood Khan.<sup>16</sup>

Imran Khan took this step to pressurise the government to hold early general elections. However, the ruling coalition is aware of its current unpopularity and is unlikely to succumb to Imran. Pakistan's Election Commission has written to the governors of Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa provinces, telling them elections should be held no later than April 13 and April 17, respectively.<sup>17</sup> This means roughly some 70 percent of voters would participate in the assembly polls months before the general election, scheduled for October 2023.

The government is also mounting pressure on Imran Khan. The Election Commission is proceeding against Imran in cases related to the contempt of the electoral body.<sup>18</sup> Imran is also facing criminal proceedings for allegedly selling gifts, that he received as the Prime Minister of Pakistan. The verdict in this case is due on February 7.

#### Worsening Internal Security Situation

On January 30, a massive explosion inside a mosque shook Peshawar's Police Lines area. The blast, triggered by a suicide bomber, killed 100 people, mostly policemen, and injured more than 200.<sup>19</sup> The TTP claimed responsibility for the attack. It later distanced itself from it, but sources indicated that the blast might have been the handiwork of some local faction of the outlawed group.

In recent months, the TTP has intensified its attacks on Pakistani security forces. Pakistan's National Security Committee had vowed to respond to the resurgent terrorist threat with "full force" and safeguard national interest, but there is little impact on the ground. Much of the problem lies in Pakistan's confused policy on dealing with the TTP.

Imran Khan has apportioned blame for the recent resurgence of terrorism in the country on the unwillingness of the current government to abide by the commitments made by the previous regime. He recently stated that despite an agreement among all political parties, no resources were provided for the rehabilitation of TTP fighters and their families.<sup>20</sup> He also accused the government of issuing "dangerously irresponsible" statements against the



Afghan Taliban and causing strains in bilateral ties rather than seeking cooperation in combating the TTP-led terror threat.<sup>21</sup>

On the other hand, the ruling coalition blames the Imran Khan government for emboldening the TTP. PPP Senator Raza Rabbani has demanded a parliamentary inquiry into the previous government's "rehabilitation policy" for the proscribed TTP, stating that the rise in terrorism is due to policies of the previous government.<sup>22</sup> Interior Minister Rana Sanaullah also stated that previous government's plan to rehabilitate the Pakistani Taliban has proven to be wrong.

After the Peshawar attack, Prime Minister Shehbaz Sharif called on all political forces to unite against anti-state elements in the aftermath of the attack. He tweeted, "Through their despicable actions, terrorists want to spread fear and paranoia among the masses and reverse our hard-earned gains against terrorism and militancy. My message to all political forces is one of unity against anti-Pakistan elements. We can fight our political fights later."<sup>23</sup>

Unfortunately, in Pakistan's sharply divided politics, Sharif's message will find little acceptance.

#### India-Pakistan Ties

In an interview with Dubai-based Al Arabiya TV on January 16, Prime Minister Sharif said that Pakistan has learned its lesson after three wars with India and stressed that now it wants peace with its neighbour. Sharif said, "My message to the Indian leadership and Prime Minister Modi is that let's sit down on the table and have serious and sincere talks to resolve our burning points like Kashmir. It is up to us to live peacefully and make progress or quarrel with each other and waste time and resources."<sup>24</sup>

In what has become a familiar scenario, Sharif had to backtrack on his comments. A day after the interview, the Prime Minister's Office issued a statement that "talks can only take place after India has reversed its illegal action of August 5, 2019. Without India's revocation of this step, negotiations are not possible."<sup>25</sup>

Interior Minister Rana Sanaullah put out a tweet, saying the main prerequisite for negotiations with India is the "revocation of its illegal step taken on August 5, 2019, which stripped the valley of its legitimate status. Until the reversal of that unilateral step, there could be no discussions between the two states."



In response, Ministry of External Affairs (MEA) spokesperson Arindam Bagchi clarified the Indian position, "We have said that we have always wanted normal neighbourly relations with Pakistan. But there should be a conducive atmosphere which does not have terror, hostility, or violence."<sup>26</sup>

It is quite clear that there is no consensus in the Pakistani establishment on how to proceed with the normalization of ties with India. With the political uncertainty in Pakistan, and elections due later this year, it is also unlikely that India would initiate any substantive steps at this stage to improve relations.

## STANDOFF AT THE INDIA-CHINA LINE OF ACTUAL CONTROL (LAC)

#### Situation at the LAC

On January 12, the Army Chief, General Manoj Pande, addressed the annual Army Day press meet. Speaking on the situation at the LAC, he said, "Though unpredictable, the situation at the northern borders is stable and under control. We have been able to resolve five of the seven issues on the table in the talk as our preparedness is of very high level and we have enough reserves to deal with any contingency."<sup>27</sup> He also stated that there is a slight increase in the number of Chinese troops opposite the Eastern Command.

Talking about the infrastructure development, Gen Pande said that the Border Roads Organisation has built roads spanning 2,100 km along our northern borders and 7,450-metre bridges in the last five years. Habitat for 55,000 troops and for 500 tanks and 400 guns has been created in the Eastern Ladakh. He also informed that "strategic rebalancing" of the troops that was undertaken some time ago has been completed.

On December 26, 2022, Qin Gang, Ambassador of China to the United States and now the new foreign minister, published an opinion article entitled "How China Sees the World" on The National Interest. Qin wrote, "As to the border issues between China and India, the status quo is that both sides are willing to ease the situation and jointly protect peace along their borders."<sup>28</sup>

In his reaction, spokesperson Arindam Bagchi said, "You are aware of India's long-standing position - that ensuring peace and tranquillity in the border areas is essential for the development of our relationship. So too is the observance of bilateral agreements and refraining from unilateral attempts to change the status quo of the boundary."<sup>29</sup>



While India certainly desires an easing of the situation, the initiative has to come from the Chinese side as it was their unilateral actions that have led to the current state. Foreign Minister Dr. S. Jaishankar stated this clearly in an interview with Austrian public broadcaster ORF, "The concern is that we had agreements with China not to amass forces in our border areas and they have not observed those agreements, which is why we have the currently tense situation that we do."<sup>30</sup>

#### BHUTAN

#### China-Bhutan Boundary Talks

The 11th Expert Group Meeting (EGM) on the China-Bhutan Boundary Issues was held in Kunming city, China from January 10 to 13, 2023. The official Chinese handout reads, "The two sides, in a frank, cordial and constructive atmosphere, had an in-depth exchange of views on implementing the MOU on the Three-Step Roadmap for Expediting the China-Bhutan Boundary Negotiations, and reached positive consensus. The two sides agreed to simultaneously push forward the implementation of all the steps of the Three-Step Roadmap."<sup>31</sup>



11th Expert Group Meeting on the China-Bhutan Boundary Issues, Kunming city, China, January 10, 2023. Source: MFA PRC

Negotiations between China and Bhutan have focused broadly on two areas of dispute – Doklam and areas along the western borders of Bhutan and near the India-China-Bhutan trijunction, and the Jakarlung and Pasamlung valleys



along Bhutan's northern borders. The western areas have a strategic significance for India as any final settlement could shift the location of the trijunction and bring more areas in the Chumbi Valley under Chinese control.

In October 2021, China and Bhutan had signed a MOU on a Three-Step Roadmap to help speed up boundary talks. The details of this Roadmap are not publicly known, but it has been apparent that China has been increasing pressure on Bhutan to accept Beijing's claims in the Chumbi Valley. At least six villages have been constructed in territory disputed by China and Bhutan, including a contested tract of roughly 110 square kilometres.<sup>32</sup>

Days after the China-Bhutan boundary talks, India's Foreign Secretary Vinay Mohan Kwatra visited Bhutan to review the bilateral cooperation, including defence ties. Although not officially stated, India would have conveyed its strategic viewpoint on the boundary settlement in Bhutan's western sector.

#### NEPAL

#### An Uneasy Political Coalition

On January 10, the seven-party alliance announced a 21-point common minimum programme (CMP) to run the government. The 13- page document focuses on good governance, corruption control, implementation of the constitution, and amendment of old acts and laws. Speaking on the occasion, Prime Minister Pushpa Kamal Dahal said the CMP would be the basis of unity among the alliance partners.<sup>33</sup>

However, unity is proving elusive and Dahal, with only 32 seats in the 275member House of Representatives, has little wriggle room. Dahal and CPN-UML chief KP Sharma Oli, though allies on paper, harbour suspicion of each other and are unable to come to a consensus on the post of the President.<sup>34</sup>

On January 27, the Nepal Supreme Court removed Rabi Lamichhane, the deputy prime minister and the minister, from office for violating citizenship laws. Lamichane heads the Rastriya Swatantra Party (RSP), which has 20 seats the ruling coalition. After resigning from the posts, Lamichane reacquired a Nepali citizenship certificate and is now demanding his reappointment as the home minister. In case he does not get the ministry, the RSP has threatened to quit the coalition.<sup>35</sup>



#### India-Nepal Ties

Dahal has said that his government would maintain a balance in relations with India and Pakistan. However, there could be some wariness in India, particularly as government is dependent on the CPN-UML, whose leader Oli had a difficult relationship with India in the 2018-21 period when he was Prime Minister.

The ruling coalition's CMP mentions that the government will try to bring back the territories of Limpiyadhura, Kalapani and Lipulek that are currently occupied by India. Sources at the Prime Minister's Office have stated that the issue of boundary dispute and its amicable solution will be the top priority during the upcoming visit of Prime Minister Pushpa Kamal Dahal to India.<sup>36</sup>

Nepal also needs to firm up its decision on the Agnipath scheme. The newly adopted Agnipath scheme, which provides for short-term recruitment into the Indian military, has not yet been accepted by the Nepal government. This has led to a suspension of recruitment of Gorkhas from Nepal, an important aspect of India-Nepal relations.

Hosting an event to celebrate the 74th Republic Day, India's Ambassador to Nepal, Naveen Srivastava, said that India's political leadership is committed to working closely with the Prachanda-led government in Nepal for giving further impetus to bilateral ties.<sup>37</sup> Much will depend on how both countries can leverage the strong cultural, historical, religious, and economic linkages between them.

#### SRI LANKA

#### A Dire Economic Situation

Sri Lanka is facing its worst economic crisis in 70 years. The country had defaulted on its \$51 billion foreign debt, headline inflation was at 70 percent, lending rates were above 15 percent, and economic growth for the third quarter of the calendar year was at a negative 11.8 percent.<sup>38</sup>

Sri Lanka has begun a fresh austerity, banning non-essential capital expenditure, freezing Government recruitment and imposing new taxes and higher electricity prices.<sup>39</sup> The government has also decided to cut the allocated budget of each ministry by five percent in an attempt to keep expenditure in check.<sup>40</sup>



State Minister Premitha Bandara Tennakoon said that approved cadre of the Sri Lanka Army, which now stands at 200,783 will be reduced to 135,000 by 2024 and to 100,000 by 2030. He said, "The strength of the military and sustainable economic development are two sides of a coin, which stay together, but never talk to each other in open."<sup>41</sup>

In September, The IMF had reached a staff-level agreement with Sri Lanka on a \$2.9 billion package, but its executive board has not yet approved the loan. The IMF has asked Sri Lanka to first restructure its debt by negotiating with the major creditors – China, Japan and India.

India's Ministry of Finance has recently issued a letter to the IMF to confirm its support to Sri Lanka on the issue of debt restructuring. Dr. Jaishankar, during his visit to Colombo on January 19, also gave the required assurances to the Sri Lankan leadership for the IMF bailout package, becoming the first of Sri Lanka's major creditors to agree to restructuring the country's debt.<sup>42</sup>

In a statement, Dr. Jaishankar said, "India decided not to wait on others, but to do what we believe is right. We extended financing assurances to the IMF to clear the way for Sri Lanka to move forward."<sup>43</sup>

As part of debt restructuring, the government of China has offered a two-year moratorium to Sri Lanka on loan repayments. According to media reports, these assurances from China are not sufficient to secure IMF board approval for the \$2.9 billion bailout package for Sri Lanka.<sup>44</sup> China also said that it wanted multilateral lenders to provide debt relief to Sri Lanka as part of a broader restructuring of loans, a demand at odds with other major creditors.<sup>45</sup>

While the IMF package is likely to ultimately go through, negotiations with China could delay the process.

\*\*\*



#### ENDNOTES

- <sup>1</sup> "Afghanistan Humanitarian Needs Overview 2023 (January 2023) Afghanistan | ReliefWeb." Accessed January 29, 2023. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/afghanistan/afghanistan-humanitarian-needs-overview-2023-january-2023</u>.
- <sup>2</sup> AsiaNews.it. "Cold Snap Kills 150 Afghans amid an Endless Humanitarian Crisis." Accessed January 29, 2023. https://www.asianews.it/news-en/Cold-snap-kills-150-Afghans-amid-an-endless-humanitarian-crisis-57628.html?&page=all&single=1.
- <sup>3</sup> Greenfield, Charlotte, and Michelle Nichols. "Top U.N. Officials Seek to 'water down' Bans on Women in Afghanistan." Reuters, January 25, 2023, sec. Asia Pacific. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/un-aid-chief-asks-taliban-authorities-more-exemptions-female-ngo-worker-ban-2023-01-25/</u>.
- <sup>4</sup> AFP. "Three Foreign NGOs Partially Resume Aid in Afghanistan with Women Workers." The Hindu, January 17, 2023, sec. World. <u>https://www.thehindu.com/news/international/three-foreign-ngos-partially-resume-aid-in-afghanistan-with-women-workers/article66387736.ece</u>.
- <sup>5</sup> DPA. "Taliban Reject UN Request to Overturn Measures against Women." Miami Herald, January 15, 2023. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/nation-world/world/article271203292.html.
- <sup>6</sup> NDTV.com. "UN Says It Won't Halt Aid To Afghanistan Despite Ban On Women In NGOs." Accessed January 29, 2023. <u>https://www.ndtv.com/world-news/un-says-it-wont-halt-aid-to-afghanistan-despite-ban-on-women-in-ngos-3649528</u>.
- <sup>7</sup> "Suicide Bomber Attacks Taliban Regime in Afghanistan's Capital Kabul, Killing at Least 13." Accessed January 29, 2023. <u>https://www.cbsnews.com/news/afghanistan-suicide-bombing-attack-kabul-taliban-foreign-ministry-isis-k/</u>.
- <sup>8</sup> Siddiqui, Naveed. "FO Rubbishes Reports of Pakistan Air Strikes in Afghanistan." DAWN.COM, 21:58:44+05:00. <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1730079</u>.

9 Ibid

- <sup>10</sup> Mehsud, Sophia Saifi, Rhea Mogul, Saleem. "Death Toll from Blast in Pakistan Mosque Rises to at Least 100 as Country Faces 'National Security Crisis.'" CNN, January 31, 2023. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2023/01/31/asia/pakistan-peshawar-mosque-blast-tuesday-intl-hnk/index.html</u>.
- <sup>11</sup> The Maritime Executive. "Foreign Exchange Crisis Leaves Pakistan Struggling to Pay for Imports." Accessed January 31, 2023. <u>https://maritime-executive.com/article/foreign-exchange-crisis-leaves-pakistan-struggling-to-pay-forimports</u>.
- <sup>12</sup> The Week. "Pakistan's Foreign Loan Inflows Slow down Report." Accessed January 31, 2023. https://www.theweek.in/wire-updates/business/2023/01/28/fgn15-pak-foreign-loans.html.
- <sup>13</sup> Kiani, Khaleeq. "IMF Announces Long-Awaited Visit." DAWN.COM, 06:52:02+05:00. https://www.dawn.com/news/1733849.
- <sup>14</sup> Khan, Mubarak Zeb. "Govt Ready to Unleash Taxes Worth Rs200bn to Appease IMF." DAWN.COM, 06:17:48+05:00. <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1734167</u>.
- <sup>15</sup> Iqbal, Syed Irfan Raza | Anwar. "Bilawal Lands in Moscow on Two-Day Official Visit." DAWN.COM, 07:10:57+05:00. https://www.dawn.com/news/1734335.
- <sup>16</sup> "The Extremely Muddled Politics Behind Dissolution Of Punjab And KP Assemblies." Accessed February 1, 2023. <u>https://www.thefridaytimes.com/2023/01/19/the-extremely-muddled-politics-behind-dissolution-of-punjab-and-kp-assemblies/</u>.
- <sup>17</sup> Hussain, Abid. "Pakistan Poll Panel Announces April Elections in Two Provinces." Accessed February 1, 2023. <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2023/1/26/pakistan-poll-panel-announces-april-elections-in-two-provinces.</u>
- <sup>18</sup> Sadozai, Haseeb Bhatti | Irfan. "SC Allows ECP to Continue Contempt Proceedings against Imran, Other PTI Leaders." DAWN.COM, 12:24:43+05:00. <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1729716</u>.
- <sup>19</sup> Guramani, Sirajuddin | Nadir. "Death Toll from Suicide Attack on Mosque in Peshawar's Police Lines Rises to 100." DAWN.COM, 10:45:41+05:00. <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1734573</u>.
- <sup>20</sup> Report, Dawn. "Broken Pledges behind Fresh Wave of Terror, Says Imran." DAWN.COM, 08:05:06+05:00. <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1732432</u>.



- <sup>21</sup> Gul, Ayaz. "Ex-PM Khan Warns Tensions with Afghan Taliban Could Fuel Terror in Pakistan." VOA. Accessed February 1, 2023. <u>https://www.voanews.com/a/ex-pm-khan-warns-tensions-with-afghan-taliban-could-fuel-terror-in-pakistan/6912575.html</u>.
- <sup>22</sup> Guramani, Sirajuddin | Nadir. "Death Toll from Suicide Attack on Mosque in Peshawar's Police Lines Rises to 100." DAWN.COM, 10:45:41+05:00. <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1734573</u>.

<sup>23</sup> Ibid

- <sup>24</sup> The Indian Express. "We Have Learnt Our Lesson': Pakistan PM Shehbaz Sharif Calls for Talks with PM Modi," January 17, 2023. <u>https://indianexpress.com/article/world/we-have-learnt-our-lessons-after-wars-with-india-says-pakistan-pm-calls-peace-with-pm-modi-8386851/</u>.
- <sup>25</sup> Dawn.com. "Negotiations with India Not Possible until Reversal of 'Illegal Action' on Occupied Kashmir, PMO Clarifies." DAWN.COM, 14:20:38+05:00. <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1732100</u>.
- <sup>26</sup> World, Republic. "We Wanted Normal Relations but...': MEA Clarifies India's Stance amid Sharif's Truce Call." Republic World. Accessed February 2, 2023. <u>https://www.republicworld.com/world-news/pakistan-news/we-wanted-normal-relations-but-dot-mea-clarifies-indias-stance-amid-sharifs-truce-call-articleshow.html</u>.
- <sup>27</sup> Hindustan Times. "Slight Increase in Chinese Troops at LAC But...': General Manoj Pande," January 12, 2023. https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/slight-increase-in-chinese-troops-at-lac-but-general-manojpande-101673513924321.html.
- <sup>28</sup> Admin. "How China Sees the World." News Central Asia (NCa) (blog), January 5, 2023. https://www.newscentralasia.net/2023/01/05/how-china-sees-the-world/.
- <sup>29</sup> News18. "Ensuring Peace, Tranquillity Is Essential': India Reacts to New Chinese Foreign Min's Remark on LAC Situation," January 5, 2023. <u>https://www.news18.com/news/india/ensuring-peace-tranquillity-is-essential-indiareacts-to-new-chinese-foreign-mins-remark-on-lac-situation-6767467.html</u>.
- <sup>30</sup> Hindustan Times. "There's Larger Concern': EAM S Jaishankar on Situation with China, Pakistan," January 3, 2023. https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/theres-larger-concern-eam-s-jaishankar-on-situation-withchina-pakistan-101672733138121.html.
- <sup>31</sup> "Joint Press Release of the 11th Expert Group Meeting (EGM)On the China-Bhutan Boundary Issues." Accessed February 3, 2023. <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/wjbxw/202301/t20230113\_11006950.html</u>.
- <sup>32</sup> "China Steps up Construction along Disputed Bhutan Border, Satellite Images Show | Reuters." Accessed February 3, 2023. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/china/china-steps-up-construction-along-disputed-bhutan-border-satellite-images-show-2022-01-12/</u>.
- <sup>33</sup> SAH, BAL KRISHNA. "Common Programme to Run Coalition Govt Announced." The Himalayan Times, January 10, 2023. <u>https://thehimalayantimes.com/nepal/common-programme-to-run-coalition-govt-announced</u>.
- <sup>34</sup> "Electing President Is Task Cut out for Dahal and Oli." Accessed February 3, 2023. <u>https://kathmandupost.com/politics/2023/01/26/electing-president-is-task-cut-out-for-dahal-and-oli.</u>
- <sup>35</sup> Ministry, Nepal Minute :: Rabi Lamichhane piles pressure on Prachanda, demanding Home. "Rabi Lamichhane Piles Pressure on Prachanda, Demanding Home Ministry." Rabi Lamichhane piles pressure on Prachanda, demanding Home Ministry. Accessed February 3, 2023. <u>https://www.nepalminute.com/detail/1726/rabi-lamichhane-piles-pressure-on-prachanda-demanding-home-ministry-2023-Jan-31-790800/</u>.
- <sup>36</sup> "Ruling Parties Commit to Bring Back India-Controlled Nepali Territories." Accessed February 3, 2023. <u>https://kathmandupost.com/national/2023/01/10/ruling-parties-commit-to-bring-back-india-controlled-nepali-territories</u>.
- <sup>37</sup> India, Press Trust of. "India Committed to Working Closely with Nepal to Further Boost Ties: Envoy," January 27, 2023. <u>https://www.business-standard.com/article/current-affairs/india-committed-to-working-closely-with-nepal-to-further-boost-ties-envoy-123012700650\_1.html</u>.
- <sup>38</sup> "Sri Lanka's Steep Climb Out of the Economic Abyss." Accessed February 3, 2023. <u>https://thediplomat.com/2023/01/sri-lankas-steep-climb-out-of-the-economic-abyss/</u>.
- <sup>39</sup> "Govt. Freezes Recruitment in Fresh Austerity Drive | Daily FT." Accessed February 3, 2023. https://www.ft.lk/news/Govt-freezes-recruitment-in-fresh-austerity-drive/56-743745.
- <sup>40</sup> sextonepaeu. "Cash-Strapped Sri Lanka Slashes Ministry Budgets." EFE Noticias, January 10, 2023. <u>https://efe.com/en/latest-news/cash-strapped-sri-lanka-slashes-ministry-budgets/</u>.



- <sup>41</sup> "SL Army's Strength to Be Trimmed from 200,000 to 135,000 by next Year Breaking News | Daily Mirror." Accessed February 3, 2023. <u>https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking\_news/SL-Armys-strength-to-be-trimmed-from-200-000-to-135-000-by-next-year/108-252123</u>.
- <sup>42</sup> https://www.outlookindia.com/. "Sri Lanka Thanks India For Backing Its \$2.9 Billion Bailout Package; Issuing Guarantees To IMF," January 25, 2023. <u>https://www.outlookindia.com/business/sri-lanka-thanks-india-forbacking-its-2-9-billion-bailout-package-issuing-guarantees-to-imf-news-256725</u>.
- <sup>43</sup> Pasricha, Anjana. "India Facilitates IMF Bailout for Crisis Stricken Sri Lanka." VOA, January 20, 2023. https://www.voanews.com/a/india-facilitates-imf-bailout-for-crisis-stricken-sri-lanka/6926790.html.
- <sup>44</sup> "China Calls on IMF to Offer Debt Support to Sri Lanka, Refuses to Comment If IMF Found Chinese Assurances Credible," February 3, 2023. <u>https://newsonair.com/2023/02/03/china-calls-on-imf-to-offer-debt-support-to-srilanka-refuses-to-comment-if-imf-found-chinese-assurances-credible/</u>.
- <sup>45</sup> Bloomberg.com. "China Calls on IMF to Support Sri Lanka Urgently With Bailout," February 3, 2023. <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-02-03/china-calls-on-imf-to-support-sri-lanka-urgently-with-bailout</u>.



**Delhi Policy Group** Core 5A, 1st Floor, India Habitat Centre, Lodhi Road New Delhi - 110003 India

www.delhipolicygroup.org